IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION TWO** STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, V. REYCEL PEREZ-MARTINEZ, Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY The Honorable Scott Collier, Judge **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney for Appellant

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney at Law P.O. Box 761 Manchester, WA 98353 (360) 876-2736

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court failed to honor appellant's constitutional right to counsel.
- 2. Prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument denied appellant a fair trial.

<u>Issues pertaining to assignments of error</u>

- 1. Appellant moved for substitution of counsel three months prior to trial, and he renewed his motion four days before trial started. The court denied the motions without speaking to appellant privately and without asking specific questions regarding appellant's dissatisfaction with counsel. Where the court failed to conduct sufficient inquiry into the substantial conflict between appellant and counsel in response to appellant's timely motions, was appellant's constitutional right to counsel violated?
- 2. Despite the court's instructions to the jury on self-defense, the prosecutor argued in closing argument that there was no evidence of self-defense because appellant claimed the shooting was an accident. Where the prosecutor's argument misstated the law on self-defense and shifted the burden of proof to the defense, is reversal and remand for a new trial required?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Procedural History</u>

On July 1, 2011, the Clark County Prosecuting Attorney charged appellant Reycel Perez-Martinez with one count of attempted first degree murder. CP 1. The information was later amended to add a charge of first degree assault based on the same conduct and adding allegations that the offense was committed with a firearm. CP 4. The case proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Scott Collier. The jury found Perez-Martinez not guilty of attempted murder but entered a guilty verdict on the assault charge and found he was armed with a firearm. CP 144-47. The court entered a high-end standard range sentence plus a 60-month firearm enhancement, for a total sentence of 183 months. CP 219-20. Perez-Martinez filed this timely appeal. CP 229.

2. Substantive Facts

Eric Luna-Claro immigrated to the United States from Cuba in 2001. 2RP¹ 135. He settled in Vancouver, Washington, and he began selling drugs. 2RP 139. He and his wife enjoyed the lifestyle he provided with his drug proceeds, including a house filled with nice belongings and trips to Las Vegas, California, and Florida. 2RP 139-40; 3RP 391-92.

¹ The Verbatim Report of Proceedings is contained in five volumes, designated as follows: 1RP—12/12/11 and 3/8/12; 2RP—3/12/12; 3RP—3/13/12; 4RP—3/14/12; 5RP—3/15-16/12, 4/27/12.

Luna-Claro and Reycel Perez-Martinez had been close friends in Cuba, and they reconnected after Perez-Martinez immigrated to the United States in 2005. 2RP 136-37; 4RP 517-18. Luna-Claro visited Perez-Martinez in Florida, and Perez-Martinez visited Luna-Claro in Washington, at one point staying with Luna-Claro and his family for about two months in the spring of 2011. 2RP 137, 141, 167; 3RP 388; 5RP 518. Luna-Claro's wife Antonia was not as fond of Perez-Martinez. She felt he had overstayed his welcome, and she argued with her husband about that. 3RP 376, 394. In April 2011, Perez-Martinez returned to Florida. 4RP 531.

On June 28, 2011, Perez-Martinez and another man, Arnaldo, arrived at Luna-Claro's home. 4RP 535, 551. The three men went into the garage to talk. 2RP 145. A few minutes later Luna-Claro had been shot in the abdomen, and Perez-Martinez and Arnaldo left, taking the gun. 2RP 146; 4RP 557. Once they were gone, Luna-Claro threw bags of drugs into the attic, so that police would not find them. 2RP 157; 3RP 383.

Over the next few days, Luna-Claro and his wife gave police conflicting versions of what had happened, lying to hide the fact that Luna-Claro was a drug dealer. 2RP 156, 211; 3RP 251, 255, 260. Police eventually found large quantities of cocaine and methamphetamine in the

house, and Luna-Claro was charged with possession of controlled substances with intent to deliver. 2RP 156-57; 3RP 255; 4RP 499.

Surveillance video from Luna-Claro's home showed Perez-Martinez arriving at and leaving the house on the day of the shooting, and Luna-Claro told police Perez-Martinez was the shooter. 3RP 253; 4RP 481-83. Perez-Martinez was arrested and charged with attempted murder. CP 1.

At trial Luna-Claro testified that Perez-Martinez called him in 2011 saying he needed a job, so he taught Perez-Martinez how to sell drugs. 2RP 140. They met up in southern California and returned to Washington, with Luna-Claro driving. 2RP 141. Perez-Martinez stayed with Luna-Claro and his wife for a few days, then went to Florida for two weeks, then returned to Washington, where he stayed with Luna-Claro and his wife for about two months. 2RP 141, 179-81.

Luna-Claro testified that he helped Perez-Martinez make connections with a Mexican drug cartel. 2RP 142, 150, 174-75. When Perez-Martinez returned to Florida in April 2011, Luna-Claro thought he would be selling drugs there. 2RP 143. But on June 28, 2011, Perez-Martinez and another man showed up at his house unexpectedly. 2RP 143. According to Luna-Claro, the three men moved to the garage to talk, where Perez-Martinez pulled out a gun and shot him. 2RP 145-46. He

said Perez-Martinez then approached and tried to shoot again, but the gun did not fire, so Perez-Martinez kicked him a few times and then left. 2RP 147.

Luna-Claro testified that his wife came to the door of the garage after he was shot and Perez-Martinez grabbed her by the shoulders as he was leaving. 2RP 207. He also said he heard Perez-Martinez tell the other man to grab the receiver from the security cameras. 2RP 208. Luna-Claro testified he believed the man with Perez-Martinez was a member of the Mexican cartel. He explained that he owed the cartel \$150,000 because a load of drugs he was responsible for was confiscated by law enforcement when the driver was arrested. 2RP 192. Luna-Claro testified that he believed Perez-Martinez and the other man were there to kill him. 2RP 149, 193.

Antonia Luna-Claro testified that when Perez-Martinez and the other man arrived at the house on June 28, 2011, Luna-Claro told her to take their daughter to the bedroom while the men moved into the garage. 3RP 379. About five minutes later she heard a gunshot, and she went to the garage, where she saw Perez-Martinez standing over Luna-Claro with a gun in his hand. 3RP 379. She yelled at Perez-Martinez to leave, and after a few seconds he walked toward the door. 3RP 380. Antonia testified that Perez-Martinez stopped and told the other man to get the

security cameras, although she had never told police about that. 3RP 381, 399. She testified that she told the men she would turn the surveillance system off, and they left. 3RP 381. On his way out, Perez-Martinez told her not to say anything. 3RP 381. Although Luna-Claro had testified that Perez-Martinez grabbed Antonia as he was leaving the garage, she testified he never touched her. 2RP 207;3RP 381.

Police investigating the shooting noted there were four surveillance cameras outside the house, and the digital recording device was located in the attic. 3RP 271, 284. The device was seized and the recording retrieved from it showed Perez-Martinez putting a gun into his waistband as he left the home. 4RP 481. In the garage police found a shell casing from a .40 caliber semi-automatic handgun as well as a live round under the pool table. 3RP 272-73. Both rounds were the same brand. 3RP 280. Although both were sent to the crime laboratory for analysis, no fingerprints were identified on them. 3RP 281-82. No other ammunition and no weapons were found in the home. 3RP 304. None of the evidence collected in the house was connected with Perez-Martinez. 3RP 312.

A firearms expert from the Clark County Sheriff's Office testified that he examined Luna-Claro's clothing for gunpowder residue and found none. 3RP 426, 432. After conducting a series of test fires using ammunition similar to that found in Luna-Claro's garage, the expert

concluded that no gunpowder residue was visible on clothing when the gun was fired from a distance of five feet. 3RP 433-34.

Perez-Martinez testified that he came to Washington in February 2011 at Luna-Claro's request. 4RP 519-20. Luna-Claro had asked him to drive a car from California to Washington, and Perez-Martinez went to California as instructed, where he was met by a Mexican man who was working with Luna-Claro. 4RP 521. Perez-Martinez understood that the plan was to put drugs in the car, but he did not agree to that. After delaying the trip for a few weeks, Perez-Martinez convinced Luna-Claro to pick him up in California and drive him to Washington. 4RP 522-24. Antonia was with Luna-Claro, and she did not seem happy with his decision to bring Perez-Martinez home with them. 4RP 525. Perez-Martinez stayed with Luna-Claro and his family for a few days, and then they all flew to Florida. 4RP 526.

When Perez-Martinez returned to Washington in March, Luna-Claro paid for his flight and met him at the airport. Again, Antonia was not happy to see him when he arrived. 4RP 527-28. During this visit, Luna-Claro took Perez-Martinez to rent a storage unit. The unit was registered in Perez-Martinez's name, because Luna-Claro said it would help Perez-Martinez establish residency in Washington. 4RP 528-29. Perez-Martinez became uncomfortable with the arrangement and asked

Luna-Claro to take his name off the unit, and Luna-Claro agreed. 4RP 529.

After about a month, Luna-Claro drove Perez-Martinez back to Florida. 4RP 530-31. Then, in June 2011, Luna-Claro asked him to move to Washington to help him with his business. 4RP 534. Luna-Claro paid for Perez-Martinez's flight to Las Vegas, where he was to meet with another man. 4RP 534. A Mexican man named Arnaldo met Perez-Martinez at the airport in Las Vegas, and they drove to Washington together. 4RP 535.

When they arrived in Vancouver, they went to the storage facility where Luna-Claro had previously rented a unit in Perez-Martinez's name. Luna-Claro had asked Arnaldo to rent another unit, instructing him to use Perez-Martinez's name again. Perez-Martinez did not agree with this plan, and he refused to fill out the paperwork. 4RP 537. He also discovered that Luna-Claro had continued to use the other storage unit in his name. 4RP 580.

Perez-Martinez and Arnoldo then drove to Luna-Claro's house. Luna-Claro had told them he did not want Antonia to see them, so they parked a block or so away, where Luna-Claro said he would meet them. When Luna-Claro did not show up, Perez-Martinez became upset and walked to the house. Arnaldo followed. 4RP 539.

Luna-Claro invited them in after sending Antonia to another room. Perez-Martinez asked Luna-Claro about the storage unit, and they began arguing. 4RP 551-52. During the argument, Luna-Claro slowly pulled a gun from his waistband. 4RP 554. Perez-Martinez was afraid for his life, and without thinking, he lunged at Luna-Claro and wrestled the gun from him. 4RP 554-55. As he was grabbing the gun away, it went off, shooting Luna-Claro in the abdomen. 4RP 554. Perez-Martinez did not remember pulling the trigger. He estimated the gun was about four feet away from Luna-Claro when it went off. 4RP 555.

Perez-Martinez testified that he did not have a gun when he went to Luna-Claro's house, and he did not see Arnaldo with a gun. 4RP 540. He also denied trying to shoot Luna-Claro a second time or kicking him. 4RP 556. After the shooting, Luna-Claro said the police would likely respond to the gunshot, and he told Perez-Martinez to leave and take the gun. 4RP 557. Perez-Martinez left with the gun, later disposing of it along a highway. 4RP 560.

Perez-Martinez testified that he was not a member of a Mexican drug cartel, and He denied Luna-Claro's claim that he was sent by the cartel to shoot Luna-Claro. 4RP 560-61. He testified he did not bring a gun to the house. Rather, he was defending himself when he grabbed the gun away from Luna-Claro and the gun went off accidentally. 4RP 568.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO HONOR PEREZ-MARTINEZ'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO COUNSEL.

On December 1, 2011, Perez-Martinez filed a motion for new counsel. CP 16-28. The parties addressed the motion at a hearing on December 12, 2011². 1RP 4. Trial counsel informed the court that he believed someone who spoke English had prepared the motion, he suspected Perez-Martinez had not even read it, and he did not believe there were any legitimate grounds to remove him from the case. 1RP 4-5. The court then asked Perez-Martinez if he wanted a new attorney. Perez-Martinez said he did, because he did not feel counsel was doing a good job for him. 1RP 5. He felt his attorney was working for the prosecutors, and he believed counsel had said he killed somebody. 1RP 6. The court stated there must have been some miscommunication, because Perez-Martinez was never charged with killing anyone, and counsel said that the information charging attempted murder was read to Perez-Martinez through the interpreter. 1RP 6.

The court assured Perez-Martinez that his attorney did not work for the prosecutor, although they might work cooperatively to negotiate some issues. 1RP 9. The court denied Perez-Martinez's motion for new

² At all times during the proceedings, Perez-Martinez had the assistance of an interpreter.

counsel, stating that the main factor driving its decision was that appointing a new attorney would mean starting the case over, and there was no basis to discharge counsel. 1RP 8-9.

Defense counsel then moved for a continuance, indicating that critical DNA analysis and computer forensics analysis had not yet been completed. Counsel stated he would need at least three more months to prepare for trial. 1RP 10-13. The court asked Perez-Martinez if he would agree to the continuance, saying that opposing it would be dramatically tying defense counsel's hands in presenting the defense. 1RP 14. Perez-Martinez agreed, and despite the court's concern that substitution of counsel would delay proceedings, the court granted defense counsel's motion for a continuance. 1RP 14. The court urged Perez-Martinez to work with defense counsel. 1RP 14.

On March 8, 2012, Perez-Martinez again asked the court to appoint a new attorney. He told the court, "I'm not in agreement with the defense that he is giving me. I don't trust him. I wouldn't like to go to trial with him." 1RP 21. The court found the request problematic, saying it was raised on "the eve of trial," and Perez-Martinez should have brought the issue forward "some time ago." 1RP 22. The court again warned that a substitution of counsel would delay the proceedings, but it asked Perez-Martinez to explain why he wanted a new attorney. 1RP 22.

Perez-Martinez explained that counsel had only his testimony for the defense and no other evidence. Further, counsel had told him there would be a counteroffer, and he had kept that in mind. 1RP 23. Trial counsel said that he had approached the prosecutor with an offer which was rejected, and she proposed a counteroffer of 96 months. He presented that to Perez-Martinez, who said he did not want that sentence. 1RP 24. Counsel said he had discussed that offer with Perez-Martinez frequently over the last month. 1RP 24.

The court offered Perez-Martinez time to consult with counsel privately about the State's offer. 1RP 27. Perez-Martinez explained that he did not want to accept the offer, but he disagreed with counsel's representation that he had told the prosecution that, because only counsel had talked to the prosecutor. 1RP 27. When the court repeated that Perez-Martinez could have time to talk to counsel privately about the offer, Perez-Martinez again stated, "I just don't feel like I can trust him. I don't trust him... I wouldn't like to go to trial with him." 1RP 30.

The court told Perez-Martinez that he was not entitled to counsel of his choice. He assured Perez-Martinez that trial counsel was a very experienced attorney. 1RP 30. The court said it was confident counsel would do the best job he could and that he was competent and had the skills necessary to handle the case. 1RP 32-33. Noting again that it was

the eve of trial, the court denied the motion for substitute counsel. 1RP 33. The court recommended that Perez-Martinez cooperate with counsel. 1RP 33. Perez-Martinez told the court, "I mean sincerely without, you know, disrespecting anyone, I really – I don't want to talk to him." 1RP 34.

The case proceeded to trial on March 12, 2012, and on March 14, the court indicated that it had received a letter raising issues about trial counsel's performance. 4RP 542-43. Perez-Martinez stated that a friend had written the letter for him prior to the court's ruling on his motion for substitute counsel. 4RP 544. The court noted that it was very close to the end of trial, and it did not intend to replace counsel. After making that statement, it inquired whether Perez-Martinez was still requesting new counsel. Perez-Martinez responded that the letter was written based on his ideas. Although counsel appeared to be doing a good job at trial, he was still very afraid. 4RP 545.

A trial court has discretion to grant or deny a motion for substitution of counsel. <u>In re Personal Restraint of Stenson</u>, 142 Wn.2d 710, 733, 16 P.3d 1 (2001). Nonetheless, this discretion is constrained by the accused's constitutional rights. <u>United States v. Nguyen</u>, 262 F.3d 998, 1003 (9th Cir. 2002). A claim of denial of counsel is reviewed de novo. United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158 (9th Cir. 1998).

Both the federal and state constitutions guarantee the right to counsel in criminal proceedings. U.S. Const. amend VI; Const. art. I, § 22. The right to counsel is violated when a defendant is forced to proceed with an attorney with whom he has an irreconcilable conflict, even if the attorney is competent. Brown v. Craven, 424 F.2d 1166, 1170 (9th Cir. 1970); Nguyen, 262 F. 3d at 1003-04. An irreconcilable conflict exists where there is a "serious breakdown in communications." Nguyen, 262 F.3d at 1003 (citing United States v. Musa, 220 F.3d 1096, 1102 (9th Cir. 2000)). As set forth in Nguyen,

A defendant is denied his Sixth Amendment right to counsel when he is "forced into a trial with the assistance of a particular lawyer with whom he [is] dissatisfied, with whom he [will] not cooperate, and with whom he [will] not, in any manner whatsoever, communicate."

Nguyen, 262 F.3d at 1003 (citing <u>Craven</u>, 424 F.2d at 1169). Where "the relationship between lawyer and client completely collapses, the refusal to substitute new counsel violates [the defendant's] Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel." Moore, 159 F.3d at 1158.

In determining whether a motion for substitution of counsel was improperly denied, a reviewing court considers (1) the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry into the conflict, (2) the extent of the conflict between the defendant and his attorney, and (3) the timeliness of the motion. Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 724 (citing Moore, 159 F.3d at 1158-59). The trial

court denied Perez-Martinez's constitutional right by improperly denying his motions to substitute counsel.

First, the trial court made an insufficient inquiry into Perez-Martinez's requests for substitute counsel. "For an inquiry regarding substitution of counsel to be sufficient, the trial court should question the attorney or defendant 'privately and in depth." Nguyen, 262 F.3d at 1004 (quoting Moore, 159 F.3d at 1160). "[I]n most circumstances a court can only ascertain the extent of a breakdown in communication by asking specific and targeted questions." United States v. Adelzo-Gonzalez, 268 F.3d 772, 777-78 (9th Cir. 2002). An inquiry is adequate if it "ease[s] the defendant's dissatisfaction, distrust, and concern and provide[s] a sufficient basis for reaching an informed decision." Daniels v. Woodford, 428 F.3d 1181, 1198 (9th Cir. 2005) (citing Adelzo-Gonzalez, 268 F.3d at 777).

In Nguyen, the Ninth Circuit Court reversed for violation of the defendant's right to counsel. Finding the trial court court's inquiry into the conflict insufficient, the court noted that the trial court "asked [the defendant] and his attorney only a few cursory questions, did not question them privately, and did not interview any witnesses." Nguyen, 262 F.3d at 1005. Similarly, in Moore, while "[t]he court did give both parties a chance to speak and made limited inquiries to clarify what was said, ... the

court made no inquiries to help it understand the extent of the breakdown." Moore, 159 F.3d at 1160. On review the Ninth Circuit reversed based in part on the lower court's lack of inquiry. Id. at 1161.

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