#### NO. 43384-2-II

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

REYCEL PEREZ-MARTINEZ, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.11-1-01115-1

CONSOLIDATED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT AND RESPONSE TO PERSONAL RESTRAINT PETITION

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

####

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

The court then issued a thorough ruling denying the defendant's motion to substitute counsel, noting that the defendant is not entitled to

appointed counsel of his choice and noting that the defendant had not demonstrated any prejudice from counsel's actions. RP 30-33. The defendant then rejected the State's counteroffer (the one he complained he didn't receive). RP 34.

Finally, during trial (on the final day of testimony), the court received a letter that the defendant actually sent the day before the court held a hearing on his eve-of-trial motion for substitution of counsel, asking for new counsel. RP 544-45. The defendant confirmed that he had not written the letter; that someone else acting as his adviser wrote it. Id. He also stated that he was pleased with his counsel's performance in the trial and wanted to apologize to his attorney. Id.

This Court reviews a trial court's decision to deny a motion for substitution of counsel for abuse of discretion. *State v. Varga*, 151 Wn.2d 179, 200, 86 P.3d 139 (2004). The trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable reasons or grounds. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) (*Stenson I*). A defendant does not have a Sixth Amendment right to counsel of his choice where his counsel is appointed at public expense. *State v. Schaller*, 143 Wn.App. 258, 267, 177 P.3d 1139 (2007); *State v. DeWeese*, 117 Wn.2d 369, 375-76, 816 P.2d 1 (1991); *Wheat v. United States*, 486 U.S. 153, 159, n.3, 108 S.Ct. 1692 (1988). A defendant "must

show good cause to warrant substitution of counsel, such as conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and the defendant." *Schaller* at 268; *Stenson I*, 132 Wn.2d at 734 (citing *Smith v. Lockhart*, 923 F.2d 1314, 1320 (8th Cir. 1991). Substitution of counsel is not justified due solely to a "general loss of confidence or trust" in appointed counsel, *Stenson I*, 132 Wn.2d at 734, nor is "general dissatisfaction and distrust" in counsel enough. *Varga* at 200-01.

Upon reviewing whether the trial court erred, this Court reviews (1) the extent of the conflict; (2) the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry; and (3) the timeliness of the motion. *United States v. Moore*, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158-59 (9th Cir. 1998); *accord In re Personal Restraint of Stenson*, 142 Wn.2d 710, 724, 16 P.3d 1 (2001) (*Stenson II*). This test is somewhat different than the test previously employed in Washington, which evaluated (1) the reasons given for the dissatisfaction with counsel; (2) the court's own evaluation of counsel; and (3) the effect of any substitution upon the scheduled proceedings. *Stenson II*, 142 Wn.2d at 723. The Court in *Stenson II* noted that Ninth's Circuit's test for irreconcilable conflict "covers some of the same ground as our test for substitution of counsel."

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court's opinion in *Stenson II* suggests that the Ninth Circuit's test supersedes Washington's test, but later cases have continued to refer to both tests. In this case, none of the factors in either test warrant relief.

Stenson II, 142 Wn.2d at 724. The most obvious difference is that under the Ninth Circuit's test, the reviewing court must look at the adequacy of the court's inquiry. Under both tests, the reviewing court will look at the quality of the representation the defendant actually received:

In examining the extent of the conflict, this court considers the extent and nature of the breakdown in the relationship and its effect on the representation actually presented. If the representation is inadequate, prejudice is presumed. If the representation is adequate, prejudice must be shown. Because the purpose of providing assistance of counsel is to ensure that defendants receive a fair trial, the appropriate inquiry necessarily must focus on the adversarial process, not only on the defendant's relationship with his lawyer as such. "[T]he essential aim of the [Sixth] Amendment is to guarantee an effective advocate for each criminal defendant rather than to ensure that a defendant will inexorably be represented by the lawyer whom he prefers."

Schaller, supra, at 270, quoting Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. at 159.

Here, the extent of the purported conflict between the defendant and Mr. Kurtz, his counsel, clearly did not warrant substitution of counsel. The defendant provided nothing but generic, stock complaints about how he didn't trust Mr. Kurtz and didn't think he was doing anything for him. Because this motion was identical (right down to the handwriting) to several other motions filed in other cases in Clark County Superior Court, it is obvious that there was/is an inmate at the jail who is dispensing legal advice to other inmates, most likely advising them on how to create as many appeal issues as possible in their case. Complaints about counsel are

a classic go-to in this regard. Complaints about counsel can also cause delay, and it is axiomatic that delay hurts the prosecution, particularly where the case rests on the testimony of reluctant witnesses who might flee or be persuaded not to testify. "[G]eneral discomfort with [counsel's] representation" is insufficient to warrant substitution of counsel. State v. Staten, 60 Wn.App. 163, 169, 802 P.2d 1384 (1991), quoting State v. Sinclair, 46 Wn.App. 433, 436, 730 P.2d 742 (1986). Although the defendant characterizes the extent of the conflict as "substantial," the facts belie this claim. This is particularly so where the defendant confirmed, during trial, that he was quite pleased with his counsel's performance and actually apologized to his attorney. In claiming a conflict the defendant has merely stated general complaints of the sort found to be insufficient to warrant substitution of counsel. Moreover, counsel's representation wasn't merely adequate but exceptional. The defendant makes no claim in this direct appeal that he received inadequate representation.

The defendant also claims that the extent of the trial court's inquiry was insufficient because it was not conducted in private, relying exclusively on *United States v. Moore*, 159 F.3d 1154 (9th Cir. 1998) and *United States v. Nguyen*, 262 F.3d 998 (9th Cir. 2002). But both cases are distinguishable. In *Nguyen*, a Vietnamese-speaking defendant sought to replace his appointed counsel with privately retained counsel and the

district court judge, sitting in the District of Guam, held a hearing without the defendant's knowledge or presence in which he told private counsel that if he substituted in, he would have to be prepared to go to trial that day. Nguyen, 262 F.3d at 1000. Because private counsel could not possibly be ready, he declined to substitute in and the trial court proceeded with trial without even telling the defendant about the hearing. *Id.* Later, during jury selection, the defendant twice complained about his appointed attorney and the district court twice denied his motion for substitution without explanation. *Id.* When defense counsel tried to impress upon the court the need for his client to be able to hire his own attorney the judge replied "Do the best you can...I didn't travel halfway around the world to continue this trial." Nguyen at 1001. The judge also remarked that if defense counsel didn't do a good job, the defendant could just appeal on the grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel. Id. Unsurprisingly the Ninth Circuit reversed the conviction, finding the trial court's inquiry inadequate, and finding that the trial court's irrational need to adhere to the trial schedule infected his judgment. Nguyen, supra, at 1003. As in Schaller (in which the Court of Appeals considered and rejected the defendant's claim that Nguyen requires the trial court to always question a defendant in private), the trial court here conducted substantial inquiry

into the defendant's claim of irreconcilable conflict. The facts here are nothing like those in *Nguyen*.

Likewise, this case is distinguishable from *United States v. Moore*, supra. Unlike here, the attorney in *Moore* testified that he felt physically threatened by his client, and that he and his client did not "have any communication at all." *Moore*, 159 F.3d at 1159. In this case, defense counsel confirmed that the defendant was an ideal client and indicated there were no real communication issues beyond the defendant not understanding that he could not speak to the prosecutor directly. The defendant here agreed to the continuance that his attorney sought so that he could better prepare his defense, and he agreed, during trial, that he was very pleased with his attorney's performance. The trial court's inquiry was not inadequate.

The defendant's first motion for substitution of counsel came roughly twenty days before the first trial setting. The defendant makes much, in this appeal, about the fact that after the trial court denied his motion for substitution of counsel his attorney sought a three month continuance, as though it demonstrates that the trial court abused its discretion in denying the motion for substitution of counsel. But a continuance of three months is very different from the continuance that would have been needed if a new attorney came on the case. The case,

with charges of attempted murder in the first degree and assault in the first degree, both with firearm enhancements, would have started over. The delay would have been substantial. Ordering substitution of counsel under these circumstances, where the defendant failed to articulate a sufficient basis for it, would have prejudiced the State and, potentially, the defendant. The defendant's second motion (that, again, he didn't prepare himself) was brought with only one business day remaining before the commencement of trial. This motion was not timely. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion.

# II. THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT, AND ANY ERROR COULD NOT HAVE AFFECTED THE OUTCOME OF THE CASE.

The defendant's claim of prosecutorial misconduct rests on his erroneous assertion that the prosecutor misstated the law of self-defense by telling the jury that there was no evidence of self-defense (she didn't) and telling the jury they need not consider the court's instructions on self-defense (she didn't do that either). The only pages of the record the defendant cites in support of his claim are pages 651-652 of the Verbatim Report of Proceedings, which will be examined below. The defendant lodged no objections to the prosecutor's remarks.

To demonstrate prosecutorial misconduct the defendant must show that "the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial in the

context of the entire record and the circumstances at trial." *State v. Hughes*, 118 Wn.App. 713, 727, 77 P.3d 681 (2003), *review denied*, 151 Wn.2d 1039 (2004); *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 809, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006); *State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). In order to prove prejudice the defendant must show that there is a "substantial likelihood" that the prosecutor's remarks affected the jury's verdict. *State v. Magers*, 164 Wn.2d 174, 191, 189 P.3d 126 (2008); *Dhaliwal* at 578. But where a defendant fails to object to the allegedly improper remark, he must go further and prove that "the remark is so flagrant and ill intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), *cert. denied*, 514 U.S. 1129 (1995).

In claiming that the prosecutor committed misconduct, the defendant fails to quote any particular passage from the Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP), instead generally citing to pages 651-52 of the VRP. On those pages, the prosecutor said:

We're here to talk about what he did on June 28th. What we know—when you--a defendant is facing the repercussions of his actions he has three options. Option number one is to say, "It wasn't me. I didn't do it." Option number two is to say, "It was me, but it was an accident." And option number three is to say, "It was me, but I had to do it. It was self-defense."

The defendant, he didn't have a choice in the first option because there was surveillance footage that caught him going into that house on that day and caught him going out at such a fast pace, he had to put the gun away prior to--I [sic] had to put the gun away without tucking it into his sweatshirt prior to hitting the street. And so we were able to see that portion, and so his only story could be was--it was self-defense or it was an accident.

You're going to get a self-defense instruction the Court told you in your jury instructions. The interesting thing about that is he's never claimed that it was self-defense. He said that what happened on that day was not that he--that the gun was ever pointed at him, but that he lunged for the gun once he slowly saw it coming out in the middle of an argument. He was never faced with the imminent danger. He was arguing with his friend, which he himself said is something you can do.

He's not claiming self-defense. He's claiming it was an accident. He's claiming it was an accident because his hand has lost feeling. We have no medical records to indicate that this is actually what happened, and it's a pretty darn good story. But he showed you which hand that was. That was his left hand. If you were struggling for your life, for a gun, will you be pulling it with your strong hand or your weak hand? You will be grabbing the gun with your right hand. You will know that you pulled the trigger. You will have pulled it with the hand that has feeling. We have to take his word for the hand that doesn't have feeling; but even doing so, it doesn't make sense.

#### RP 651-52.

Relying almost exclusively on *State v. McCreven*, 170 Wn.App. 444, 470, 284 P.3d 793 (2012), the defendant argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct that was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it could

not have been obviated by a curative instruction. The defendant's reliance on McCreven is misplaced. In McCreven, a bevy of errors worked to deprive the defendant of a fair trial. First, the court gave erroneous instructions on the law of self-defense which shifted the burden of disproving self-defense onto the defendants. McCreven at 463-467. Then the prosecutor argued during closing argument that the defendants bore the burden of disproving self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence. McCreven at 469. When the defendants objected to this flagrantly improper remark that any prosecutor should have known better than to make, the trial court compounded the error by refusing to rule on the objection (and thereby endorsing the argument). Indeed, after receiving this tacit green light from the trial court the prosecutor repeated this ridiculous argument. McCreven at 470. Then, in rebuttal closing argument after hearing the defendants' attorneys argue the law correctly, the prosecutor said:

How do I disprove that the Defendant reasonably believed that there was imminent danger, when there has been no evidence that the Defendant reasonably believed that there was imminent danger? Ladies and gentlemen, there is nothing to disprove that because there is no evidence of it.

So if there is no evidence of self-defense, how is it that they even get to argue it?

McCreven at 470 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals held that the remarks were improper because, among other things, "A prosecutor may not comment on the lack of defense evidence because the defense has no duty to present evidence." 

\*\*McCreven\*\* at 470, citing \*\*State v. Thorgerson\*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 467, 258

\*\*P.3d 43 (2011). The Court said "[h]ere the prosecutor's misleading comments suggested that the codefendants must first prove self-defense to the \*\*jury\*, and that the State could not disprove the affirmative defense. This is not the law in Washington." \*\*McCreven\*\* at 471. This argument, again, improperly shifted the burden to the defense. \*\*Id.\*\* The Court concluded: "Because we hold that the self-defense jury instructions impermissibly lowered the State's burden to disprove self-defense, we cannot hold that the prosecutor's misstatements were harmless when viewed in the context of the entire case." \*\*McCreven\*\* at 471.

What occurred in *McCreven* bears no resemblance to what occurred in this case. The prosecutor in this case did not argue that the defendant was *not entitled* to argue self-defense, as the prosecutor did in *McCreven*, nor did she ever say that the defendant had presented "no evidence of self-defense," as the defendant claims in his brief. See Brief of Appellant at 20. She also never told the jury that it need not consider the claim of self-defense. *Id.* She simply never said that.

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